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1.  COACHES, COMBINES, AND PARLOR CARS  (123 cars)








   Last

Time Not






  Wt.

Year
   Former
Year
In Use As

    No.   
          Name           
Len.
Psg.
(tons)
            Builder            
Built
   Owner    
 Acq.
Psgr. Car 
           Disposition           
    1
...............................
19'
14
  1.05
White Pass & Yukon ..
1900
.................
1900
...............
To Flatcar 1 in 1937

Motor 2
...............................
26'
16
  4.72
White Pass & Yukon ..
1935
.................
1935
...............
Wrecked, 1942; Scrap.

Motor 5
The Red Line ........
52'
30
21
Beartown Mech Design
1998
.................
1998
...............
Sold,’04; MacBride Mus
1st
200
1st Lake Fraser ......
41'
16
19.6
White Pass & Yukon ..
1902
.................
1902
1954-68
Scrapped in 1968
1st
202
...............................
43'
30
12.5
J. Hammond Car Co. ..
1887
CPS 5 or 6
1898
...............
Sold in 1904; burned up

1st
204
...............................
40'
44
11
Billmeyer & Small Co

1882
CPS 3 or 4
1898
...............
Sold in 1905; wrecked
1st
206
...............................
43'
42
12.59
J. Hammond Car Co. ..
1887
CPS 5 or 6
1898
...............
Sold to AEC in 1918

1st
208
...............................
40'
46
11
Billmeyer & Small Co

1882
CPS 3 or 4
1898
...............
Sold in 1904; burned up


210
...............................
40'
42
11
Seattle & Walla Walla
1876
C&PS 1 ...
1898
...............
Sold to TM Ry. in 1905

212
................................
43'
42
12.86
Carter Bros. Car Co. ...
1884
C&PS 2 ...
1898
...............
Burned up in Feb. 1932

2nd
200
2nd Lake Summit ...
53'
26
30.36
White Pass & Yukon ..
1992
.................
1992
...............
Operating

3rd
201
Lake Crater ..........
53'
26
30.22
White Pass & Yukon ..
1992
.................
1992
...............
Operating

2nd
202
Lake Bare Loon ...
53'
26
30.96
White Pass & Yukon ..
1992
.................
1992
...............
Operating

2nd
203
Lake Fantail .........
53'
26
30.96
White Pass & Yukon ..
1993
.................
1993
...............
Operating

2nd
204
Lake Chilkoot .......
53'
36
30.07
White Pass & Yukon ..
1993
.................
1993
...............
Operating

2nd
205
Lake Chilkat .........
53'
36
30.81
White Pass & Yukon ..
1993
.................
1993
...............
Operating

2nd
206
Lake Nares ...........
53'
36
30.84
White Pass & Yukon ..
1993
.................
1993
...............
Operating

2nd
207
Lake Morrow ........
53'
26
30.29
White Pass & Yukon ..
1994
.................
1994
...............
Operating

2nd
208
Lake Homan .........
53'
36
30.74
White Pass & Yukon ..
1994
.................
1994
...............
Operating

2nd
209
Lake Bernard .......
53'
26
30.73
White Pass & Yukon ..
1994
.................
1994
...............
Operating


211
Combo ...................
54'
32
28.92
American Car & Fndry
1918
SV Ry. 11
1943
until 1946
Operating


214
Lake Spirit ............
46'
42
19.75
J. G. Brill & Company
1881
CdAR&N
1900
...............
Operating


216
Lake Black ............
46'
42
19.45
J. G. Brill & Company
1881
CdAR&N
1900
...............
Operating


218
Lake Atlin .............
42'
34
19.01
Jackson & Sharp Co. ..
1881
SC&CM ...
1901
...............
Operating


220
Lake Dewey ..........
42'
32
18.31
Jackson & Sharp Co. ..
1881
SC&CM ...
1901
...............
Operating


222
Lake Lindeman ....
42'
36
19.8
Jackson & Sharp Co. ..
1883
Kaaterskill
1901
...............
Operating


224
Lake Marsh ..........
42'
34
19.3
Jackson & Sharp Co. ..
1883
Kaaterskill
1901
...............
Operating


226
2nd Lake Fraser .....
45'
42
19.97
White Pass & Yukon ..
1903
.................
1903
1960-62
Operating


228
...............................
45'
46
18.82
White Pass & Yukon ..
1904
.................
1904
...............
Burned up in Feb. 1932

1st
230
...............................
46'
48
15.65
White Pass & Yukon ..
1908
.................
1908
1942-43
Burned up in Oct. 1943
2nd
230
Lake Big Kalzes ...
43'

25
White Pass & Yukon ..
2002
.................
2002
...............
Operating


232
...............................
46'
48
15.65
White Pass & Yukon ..
1908
.................
1908
1942-62
Scrapped in 1962

234
Lake Cowley .........
48'
46
21.27
most likely, N-C-O Ry.
1892
N-C-O 6 ..
1916
1945-52
Operating


236
Lake Mayo ............
46'
40
19.78
Harlan & Hollingsworth
1887
N-C-O 2d 4
1916
...............
Operating


238
Lake Watson ........
46'
42
19.94
White Pass & Yukon ..
1922
.................
1922
...............
Operating


240
Lake Bennett ........
44'
38
19.54
St. Charles Car Co. .....
1884
Coronado3
1925
...............
Operating


242
Lake Teslin ...........
47'
40
20.3
American Car & Fndry
1903
Coronado7
1925
...............
Operating


244
2nd Lake Emerald ..
44'
38
19.56
Carter Bros. Car Co. ...
1884
NWP 731
1927
1960-62
Operating


248
Lake Tagish ..........
46'
38
18.56
Harlan & Hollingsworth
1887
NWP 728
1928
...............
Operating


250
................................
45'
44
15.25
Pullman Company ......
1885
NWP 713
1930
...............
Burned up in Feb. 1932


252
Lake Muncho .......
45'
38
19.46
Pullman Company ......
1885
NWP 716
1930
...............
Operating


254
Lake Dezadeash ....
45'
38
16.36
Pullman Company ......
1885
NWP 717
1934
1957-63
Operating


256
Lake Le Barge ......
53'
46
25.55
Pacific Car & Foundry
1936
.................
1936
...............
Operating


258
Lake Kluane .........
45'
38
20.74
J. Hammond Car Co. ..
1893
PC Ry 102
1937
...............
Operating


260
Lake Tutshi ..........
45'
38
20.33
J. Hammond Car Co. ..
1893
PC Ry 103
1937
...............
Operating


262
1st Lake Summit ....
45'
29
18.38
J. Hammond Car Co. ..
1893
PC Ry 105
1937
until 1947
Burned up in Oct. 1969


264
Lake Aishihik ........
45'
38
19.34
Carter Bros. Car Co. ...
1885
NWP 732
1927
...............
Operating


266
Lake Schwatka .....
54'
50
24.71
American Car & Fndry
1918
SV Ry. 25
1947
until 1963
Operating


267
Lake Portage ........
54'
52
24.5
American Car & Fndry
1918
SV Ry. 10
1943
until 1946
Operating


268
Lake Lewes ...........
54'
50
22.95
American Car & Fndry
1918
SV Ry. 26
1947
until 1966
Operating


270
Lake Kathleen ......
45'
44
21.12
J. Hammond Car Co.
1893
PC Ry 201
1937
until 1967
Operating


272
Lake Nisutlin .........
45'
40
22.71
White Pass & Yukon ..
1900
.................
1900
until 1967
Wreck., 2014; Scr., 2016

274
Lake Primrose ......
45'
38
20.45
Coast Steel Fabricators
1969
.................
1969
...............
Sold, 2011; to GL by ’14

276
1st Lake Big Salmon
45'
40
20.55
Coast Steel Fabricators
1969
.................
1969
...............
Sold, 2005; resold, 2007

278
1st Lk. Fairweather
45'
40
20.45
Coast Steel Fabricators
1969
.................
1969
...............
Sold, 2005; to GL, 2007

280
Lake Dease ...........
45'
40
20.16
Coast Steel Fabricators
1969
.................
1969
...............
Shipped out in 2012

282
1st Lake Klukshu ...
45'
40
20.35
Coast Steel Fabricators
1976
.................
1976
...............
Sold, 2005; to GL, 2007

284
1st Lake Takhini ....
45'
40
20.07
Coast Steel Fabricators
1976
.................
1976
...............
Sold, 2005; to GL, 2007

286
Lake Kusawa .......
45'
40
20.16
Coast Steel Fabricators
1976
.................
1976
...............
Shipped out in 2012

288
1st Lake McClintock
45'
40
20.43
Coast Steel Fabricators
1976
.................
1976
...............
Sold, 2005; resold, 2007

290
Yukon River .........
53'
36
28
White Pass & Yukon ..
1994
.................
1994
...............
Operating


300
Skagway River ......
51'
40
23.3
Beartown Mech Design
1998
.................
1998
...............
Operating


302
Taiya River ...........
51'
40
23.3
Beartown Mech Design
1998
.................
1998
...............
Operating


304
Copper River ........
51'
40
23.3
Beartown Mech Design
1998
.................
1998
...............
Operating


306
Stikine River ........
51'
40
23.3
Beartown Mech Design
1998
.................
1998
...............
Operating


308
Klondike River .....
51'
40
23.3
Beartown Mech Design
1998
.................
1998
...............
Operating


310
Mackenzie River .. 
51'
40
23.3
Beartown Mech Design
1998
.................
1998
...............
Operating


312
Tatshenshini Riv.
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2000
.................
2000
...............
Operating


314
Alsek River ...........
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2000
.................
2000
...............
Operating


316
Liard River ...........
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2000
.................
2000
...............
Operating


318
Taku River ............
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2000
.................
2000
...............
Operating


320
Pelly River ............
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2001
.................
2001
...............
Operating


322
Fortymile River ....
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2001
.................
2001
...............
Operating


324
Porcupine River ....
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2001
.................
2001
...............
Operating


326
Peel River .............
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2001
.................
2001
...............
Operating


328
Stewart River ........
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2001
.................
2001
...............
Operating


330
Peace River ...........
51'
42
26.3
Jeff Hamilton ..............
2001
.................
2001
...............
Operating


332
Lake Johns ...........
53'
52
24.6
Jeff Hamilton   200401
2004
.................
2004
...............
Operating


334
Thompson River ..
53'
52
24.6
Jeff Hamilton   200402
2004
.................
2004
...............
Operating


336
Lake Drury ...........
53'
52
24.6
Jeff Hamilton   200403
2004
.................
2004
...............
Operating


338
Lake McQuesten ..
53'
52
24.6
Jeff Hamilton   200404
2004
.................
2004
...............
Operating


340
Lake Finlayson ....
53'
52
24.6
Jeff Hamilton   200405
2004
.................
2004
...............
Operating


342
Lake McNeil .........
53'
52
24.6
Jeff Hamilton   200406
2004
.................
2004
...............
Operating


344
Lake Munroe .......
53'
52
24.6
Jeff Hamilton   200401
2004
.................
2004
...............
Operating


346
Lake Pelly ............
53'
52
24.6
Jeff Hamilton   200408
2004
.................
2004
...............
Operating


348
2nd Lake Klukshu ..
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 001
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


350
2nd Lk. McClintock
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 002
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


352
2nd Lk. Big Salmon
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 003
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


354
2nd Lake Takhini ....
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 004
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


356
2nd Lk. Fairweather
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 005
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


358
Lake Hutshi ..........
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 006
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


360
Lake Annie ............
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 007
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


362
Lake Crag .............
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 008
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


364
Lake Frances ........
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 009
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


366
Lake Choutla ........
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg. Co. 010
2005
.................
2005
...............
Operating


368
Lake Wasson ........
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg.  2007-1
2007
.................
2007
...............
Operating


370
Lake Surprise ........
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg.  2007-_
2007
.................
2007
...............
Operating


372
Lake McConnell ..
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg.  2007-_
2007
.................
2007
...............
Operating


374
Lake Jennings ......
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg.  2007-_
2007
.................
2007
...............
Operating


376
Lake Squanga ......
51'
52
24.6
Hamilton Mfg.  2007-_
2007
.................
2007
...............
Operating


378
Whiting River .......
54'
24
21.34
Hamilton 1205-12-378
2012
.................
2012
...............
Operating


380
Aishihik River ......
54'
54
21.34
Hamilton 1205-12-382
2012
.................
2012
...............
Operating


382
Nakina River ........
54'
54
21.34
Hamilton 1205-12-380
2012
.................
2012
...............
Operating


384
Lake Racine .........
54'
24
21.19
Hamilton Mfg 1310384
2014
.................
2014
...............
Operating

386
Lake Goat .............
54'
54
21.19
Hamilton Mfg 1310386
2014
.................
2014
...............
Operating


388
Lake Beaver ..........
54'
54
21.19
Hamilton Mfg 1310388
2014
.................
2014
...............
Operating


390
Lake Fox ..............
54'
44
26.18
Hamilton 1360-100-1
2015
.................
2015
...............
Operating


400
Michael J. Heney
52'
14
26.18
Hamilton Mfg 1320400
2014
.................
2014
...............
Operating


402
Samuel H. Graves
52'
14
26.18
Hamilton Mfg 1320402
2014
.................
2014
...............
Operating


___
                               
__'
__
__
                                    
2020
.................
2020
...............
(to be delivered)

___
                               
__'
__
__
                                    
2020
.................
2020
...............
(to be delivered)

___
                               
__'
__
__
                                    
2020
.................
2020
...............
(to be delivered)

___
                               
__'
__
__
                                    
2020
.................
2020
...............
(to be delivered)
2.  BAGGAGE CARS  (5 cars)








   Last

Time Not






  Wt.

Year
   Former
Year
In Use As

    No.   
          Name           
Len.
Psg.
(tons)
            Builder            
Built
   Owner    
 Acq.
Bag. Car 
           Disposition           

X3
...............................
35'
  0
19.15
American Car & Fndry
1918
SV Ry. 5
1943
1943-71
Tool car; scrapped, 1971

2nd
201
...............................
45'
  0
19.88
White Pass & Yukon ..
1900
.................
1900
...............
Wrecked in 1938

1st
203
...............................
45'
  0
20.4
White Pass & Yukon ..
1900
.................
1900
...............
Psgr. Car 272 in 1967

1st
205
...............................
31'
  0
  9.15
Seattle & Walla Walla
1877
C&PS RR
1898
...............
Wrecked in Sept. 1943

1st
207
...............................
46'
  0
20.05
J. Hammond Car Co. ..
1893
PC Ry 201
1937
...............
Psgr. Car 270 in 1967

3.  NOTES ON PASSENGER CARS

The number and name listed above for each car are the final number and name that it had as a passenger car on the WP&YR, except that Passenger Car 270 is also shown in its earlier configuration as Baggage Car 1st 207, and Passenger Car #272 is also shown in its earlier configuration as Baggage Car 1st 203.  Other former WP&YR numbers and names that the listed cars had as passenger cars are:

Baggage Car 1st 201 = 1st 205 from 1898 to 1900
Passenger Car 1st Lake Emerald = Name of #254 from 1951 to 1957
Passenger Car 1st 209 = #267 from 1946 to 1992
Tool Car 932 = Tool Car (ex-SV Ry. Baggage Car) #X3 from 1946 to 1947
Passenger Car 246 = #264 from 1927 to 1948
Tool Car USA 932 = Tool Car (ex-SV Ry. Baggage Car) #X3 from 1943 to 1946
Bold type indicates passenger train cars still in existence in the U.S.A. or Canada.

All cars built after 1908 (after ##230 and 232) always had steel underframes.  All cars built before 1909 were originally built with wood underframes.  If the underframe on any car built before 1909 was changed from wood to steel, it is indicated in the note for that car.

Coaches, Combines, and Parlor Cars
Unless otherwise stated, passenger cars are coaches.

1 was a 4-wheel open observation car and had no air brake.  Used on Taku Tram.  Converted to a flat car in 1937 (#1).  Retired in 1951.  Currently, at Taku, British Columbia.

2 was self-propelled, 85 H.P. gasoline-mechanical.  Made from a 1934 Ford Motor Co. chassis, had Ford V-8 gasoline engine, and had no train brake.  Demolished due to a derailment near Mile Post 101 on October 4, 1942.  Scrapped in 1943.
5 is self-propelled, 436 H.P. Diesel-hydraulic.  Has Caterpillar, Inc. Model 3406 Diesel engine.  Purchased new.  Sold to Miles Canyon Historic Ry. Society in 2004.  The Society merged into the MacBride Museum in 2017.
1st 200 was a business car from 1902 to 1941.  Parlor car from 1941 to 1954.  Received name Lake Fraser in 1945.  Work Car #X16 from 1954 to 1969, but not physically renumbered to #X16.  Scrapped in 1968.

1st 202 was a combine.
  Originally, Olympia & Chehalis Valley R.R.  Sold to Columbia & Puget Sound R.R. in 1890.
  Acquired by the WP&YR in 1898.  Sold to Klondike Mines Ry. in 1904 (#200).  KM Ry. abandoned in 1913.  KM Ry. assets sold to the Yukon Consolidated Gold Corp. in 1925.  Car destroyed by grass fire between 1947 & 1949.

1st 204 was built for the Addison & Northern Pennsylvania Ry. in 1882.
  Sold to Barrows & Co. (dealer) in 1887.  (Mr. Barrows was a director of the Addison & Pennsylvania Ry., which purchased the A&NP under foreclosure, in the same year.)  Car moved to the Billmeyer factory at York, Pennsylvania, for renovation.
  Resold to the Columbia & Puget Sound R.R. in 1888 (C&PS #3 or 4).
  Acquired by the WP&YR in 1898.  Sold to the Tanana Mines Ry. in 1905.  The TM Ry. became the Tanana Valley R.R. in 1907 (#204).  Car wrecked at Merino, Alaska about May 15, 1916.

1st 206 was originally Olympia & Chehalis Valley R.R.
  Sold to Columbia & Puget Sound R.R. in 1890.
  Acquired by the WP&YR in 1898.  Sold to the Alaskan Engineering Commission in 1918.  The A.E.C. became The Alaska Railroad in 1923.  The Alaska Railroad's narrow-gauge branch abandoned in 1930.  Car presumed to have been scrapped thereafter.
1st 208 was built for the Addison & Northern Pennsylvania Ry. in 1882.
  Sold to Barrows & Co. (dealer) in 1887.  (Mr. Barrows was a director of the Addison & Pennsylvania Ry., which purchased the A&NP under foreclosure, in the same year.)  Car moved to the Billmeyer factory at York, Pennsylvania, for renovation.
  Resold to Columbia & Puget Sound R.R. in 1887.
  Acquired by the WP&YR in 1898.  Sold to the Klondike Mines Ry. in 1904 (#202).  KM Ry. abandoned in 1913.  KM Ry. assets sold to the Yukon Consolidated Gold Corp. in 1925.  Car destroyed by grass fire between 1947 & 1949.

210 was the earliest-built rolling stock to operate on the WP&YR.  Originally Seattle & Walla Walla R.R. Coach #1.
  Transferred to Columbia & Puget Sound R.R. in 1880 (#1).
  Acquired by the WP&YR in 1898.  Sold to the Tanana Mines Ry. in 1905 (#100).  The TM Ry. became the Tanana Valley R.R. in 1907 (#200).  TV RR sold to the Alaskan Engineering Commission in 1917 (#200).  The AEC became The Alaska Railroad in 1923 (#200).
  The Alaska Railroad's narrow-gauge branch abandoned in 1930.  Car presumed to have been scrapped thereafter.
212 was originally Columbia & Puget Sound R.R.
  Acquired by the WP&YR in 1898.  Destroyed by the February 12, 1932 Skagway roundhouse fire.
2nd 200, 3rd 201, and 2nd 202 are wheelchair accessible.  Built up from Flatcars ##497, 498 and 499.

2nd 203-209 were built up from seven of Flatcars ##470-477.
  2nd 203 and 2nd 207 wheelchair accessible.

211 is a combine.  Originally, Sumpter Valley Ry. #11, from American Car & Foundry Co. (St. Charles) Lot #8338.
  Tool car from 1937 to 1946.  Purchased by the U.S. Army in 1943 for use on the WP&YR (USA #934).  Turned over to the WP&YR in 1946 (#211).  Returned to passenger service, and cupola added in 1946.
214 was built about November 1881.  Originally, a Texas & St. Louis Ry. coach (#22 or #24).  The T&St.L became the St. Louis, Arkansas & Texas Ry. in 1886.  Later in 1886, car sold to Coeur d’Alene Ry. & Navigation Co. (#1 or #2).
  Cd’AR&N absorbed into Northern Pacific Ry. in 1896.  Car purchased by the WP&YR in 1900.  Combined coach and parlor car from 1963 to 1971.  Cupola added in 1971.  Cupola removed in 1988.  Received name Lake Spirit in 1988.  Underframe changed from wood to steel by 1951.
216 was built about November 1881.  Originally, a Texas & St. Louis Ry. coach (#22 or #24).  The T&StL became the St. Louis, Arkansas & Texas Ry. in 1886.  Later in 1886, car sold to Coeur d’Alene Ry. & Navigation Co. (#1 or #2).
  Cd’AR&N absorbed into Northern Pacific Ry. in 1896.  Car purchased by the WP&YR in 1900.  Combined coach and parlor car from 1963 to 1967.  Cupola added in 1967.  Cupola removed in 1996.  Received name Lake Black in 1996.  Underframe changed from wood to steel by 1958.
218 and 220 were originally Stony Clove & Catskill Mountain R.R. coaches, built in June 1881.  Sold to F.M. Hicks & Co. (dealer) between August 1899 & June 1900.  Purchased from Hicks by the WP&YR in 1901 (##218 and 220).
  (##218, 220, 222, and 224 were not from the Los Angeles & Redondo Ry.–the LA&R sold its 3 ft. gauge cars in 1902, 1½ years after these cars had been purchased, and it had not owned any J&S cars.
)  #218 was a parlor car from 1912 to 1988.  #220 was a parlor car from 1917 to 1988.  218 received name Lake Atlin and 220 received name Lake Dewey in 1945.  Underframes of both cars changed from wood to steel between 1948 & 1950.

222 and 224 were originally Kaaterskill R.R. coaches.  (The Kaaterskill R.R. was a connecting subsidiary of the Stony Clove & Catskill Mountain R.R.)  Coaches sold to F.M. Hicks & Co. (dealer) between August 1899 & June 1900.  Purchased from Hicks by the WP&YR in 1901 (##222 and 224).
  #222 was a parlor car from 1917 to 1988.  #224 was a parlor car from 1912 to 1988.  222 received name Lake Lindeman and 224 received name Lake Marsh in 1945.  Underframes of both cars changed from wood to steel between 1948 & 1950.

226 was a work car from 1960 to 1962.  Parlor car from 1962 to 1988.  Received name Lake Fraser in 1962.  Underframe changed from wood to steel.
228 was destroyed by the February 12, 1932 Skagway roundhouse fire.

1st 230 was an open observation car from 1908 to 1921.  Walled-in, in 1921.  Parlor car from 1921 to 1942.  Work car from 1942 to 1943.  Destroyed by fire at Glacier, Alaska on October 11, 1943.
2nd 230 was made using the underframe of Tank Car 68 or Tank Car 70.
  Open observation car and had no name from 2002 to 2005.  Walled-in, in 2005.
232 was an open observation car from 1908 to 1942. Used on the Taku Tram from 1917 to 1936. Walled-in, in 1942. Work car from 1942 to 1962.  Renumbered #X6 in 1947. Scrapped in 1962.
234 was originally a Nevada-California-Oregon Ry. Coach #6.
  Car purchased by the WP&YR in 1916.
  Parlor car from 1922 to 1945.  Work car from 1945 to 1952.  #X7 from 1947 to 1952.  Back to Passenger Car #234 in 1952.  Received name Lake Cowley in 1952.  Parlor car from 1952 to 1988.

236 was originally South Pacific Coast R.R. Coach #66.  Sold to Nevada-California-Oregon Ry. via Atlantic Equipment Co. (dealer) in 1909 (2nd 4).
  Purchased by the WP&YR in 1916.  Parlor car from 1926 to 1988.  Received name Lake Mayo in 1945.
238 was a parlor car from 1951 to 1988.  Received name Lake Watson in 1951.
240 was originally Arizona & New Mexico Ry. Coach #3.  Sold to Coronado R.R. in 1901 (#3).  Coronado R.R. abandoned in 1923.  Car resold to United Commercial Co. (dealer) thereafter.  Purchased by the WP&YR in 1925.  Parlor car from 1930 to 1988.  Received name Lake Bennett in 1945.
242 was built by American Car & Foundry Co. (Jeffersonville).  Originally Coronado R.R. Parlor Car-Coach #7.  Coronado R.R. abandoned in 1923.  Car sold to United Commercial Co. (dealer) thereafter.  Purchased by the WP&YR in 1925.  Full-length parlor car from 1927 to 1988.  Received name Lake Teslin in 1945.  Underframe changed from wood to steel in 1951 or 1952.

244 was originally South Pacific Coast R.R. #59.
  Sold to Northwestern Pacific R.R. in 1908 (#731).  Car purchased by the WP&YR in 1927.
  Underframe changed from wood to steel in 1951 or 1952.  Work car from 1960 to 1962.  Converted back to passenger car in 1962 and given the name 2nd Lake Emerald.  Parlor car from 1962 to 1988.

248 was originally South Pacific Coast R.R. Coach #65.  Sold to Northwestern Pacific R.R. in 1907 (#38).  Renumbered #728 in 1908.  Car purchased by the WP&YR in 1928.
  Used on the Taku Tram from 1928 to 1936.  Parlor car from 1937 to 1988.  Received name Lake Tagish in 1945.  Underframe changed from wood to steel in 1951 or 1952.

250 was North Pacific Coast R.R. Coach #22, from Pullman Co. Lot #C1073, Plan #253.
  The NPC became the North Shore R.R. in 1902 (#22).  NS RR merged into the Northwestern Pacific R.R. in 1907 (#713).  Car purchased by the WP&YR in 1930.
  Destroyed by the February 12, 1932 Skagway roundhouse fire.
252 was North Pacific Coast R.R. Coach #26, from Pullman Co. Lot #C1073, Plan #253.
  The NPC became the North Shore R.R. in 1902 (#26).  NS RR merged into the Northwestern Pacific R.R. in 1907 (#716).
  Car purchased by the WP&YR in 1930.  Underframe changed from wood to steel between 1943 & 1950.  Parlor car from 1951 to 1988.  Received name Lake Muncho in 1951.
254 was North Pacific Coast R.R. Coach #27, from Pullman Co. Lot #C1073, Plan #253.
  The NPC became the North Shore R.R. in 1902 (#27).  NS RR merged into the Northwestern Pacific R.R. in 1907 (#717).
  Car purchased by the WP&YR in 1934.  Parlor car from 1950 to 1957.  1st Lake Emerald from 1951 to 1957. Work Car from 1957 to 1963.  Renumbered #X18, and use of the name Lake Emerald discontinued in 1957.  Underframe changed from wood to steel, converted back to passenger car, and reassumed the #254 in 1963.  However, in 1962, the name Lake Emerald had been reassigned to #244.  Therefore, #254 assigned the name Lake Dezadeash in 1963.  Parlor car from 1963 to 1988.

256 was purchased new.  First all steel car on the WP&YR.  Parlor car from 1936 to 1988.  Received name Lake LeBarge in 1945.
258 was originally Pacific Coast Ry. Coach #102. Purchased by the WP&YR in 1937.
  Parlor car from 1937 to 1988.  Received name Lake Kluane in 1945.  Underframe changed from wood to steel in 1959 or 1960.

260 was originally Pacific Coast Ry. Coach #103.
  Purchased by the WP&YR in 1937.  Parlor car from 1937 to 1988.  Received name Lake Tutshi in 1945.  Underframe changed from wood to steel in 1959 or 1960.

262 was originally Pacific Coast Ry. Coach #105.
  Purchased by the WP&YR in 1937 as #105.  Work car from 1937 to 1947.  Renumbered #B05 in 1947.  Later in 1947, converted back to a passenger car and renumbered #262.  Parlor car from 1950 to 1969.  Received name Lake Summit in 1950.  Underframe changed from wood to steel in 1951 or 1952.  Destroyed by the October 15, 1969 Skagway roundhouse fire.
264 was originally San Joaquin & Sierra Nevada R.R. Coach Ettie.  SJ&SN merged into the Northern Ry. in 1888 (Northern Ry. #1011).  Northern Ry. merged into the Southern Pacific Co. in 1898 (SP #1011).  Car leased to the South Pacific Coast R.R. from 1904 to 1906.  Leased to the Nevada & California Ry. from 1906 to 1908.
  Sold to Northwestern Pacific R.R. in 1908 (#732).  Purchased by the WP&YR in 1927 as #246.
  Underframe changed from wood to steel between 1927 & 1942.  Renumbered #264 in 1948.  Parlor car from 1948 to 1988.  Received name Lake Aishihik in 1948.
266 was originally Sumpter Valley Ry. Coach #25, from American Car & Foundry Co. (St. Charles) Lot #8337.
  Purchased by the WP&YR in 1947 as #X5.  Work car from 1947 to 1963.  Converted back to a passenger car and renumbered #266 in 1963.  Parlor car from 1963 to 1988.  Received name Lake Schwatka in 1963.
267 was originally Sumpter Valley Ry. Combine #10, from American Car & Foundry Co. (St. Charles) Lot #8338.
  Tool car from 1937 to 1946.  Purchased by the U.S. Army in 1943 (USA #933).  Turned over to the WP&YR in 1946 (1st 209).  Returned to passenger service, and cupola added in 1946.  Cupola removed, converted to full-length passenger car, and named Lake Portage in 1982.  Renumbered #267 in 1992.  Received name Lake Portage in 1988.
268 was originally Sumpter Valley Ry. Coach #26, from American Car & Foundry Co. (St. Charles) Lot #8337.
  Converted to a passenger and railway post office combine, most likely in 1928.
  Purchased by the WP&YR in 1947 as #X12.  Work car from 1947 to 1966.  Renumbered to 268 in 1966.  Parlor car from 1966 to 1988.  Received name Lake Lewes in 1966.
270 was originally Pacific Coast Ry. Baggage and Mail Car #201.
  Purchased by WP&YR as Baggage Car #207 in 1937.  Cupola added in 1937.  Underframe changed from wood to steel between 1946 & 1950.  Cupola removed, converted to passenger car, and renumbered #270 in 1967.  Parlor car from 1967 to 1988.  Received name Lake Kathleen in 1967.
272 was originally Baggage Car #203.  Cupola added in 1925.  Underframe changed from wood to steel between 1946 & 1950.  Cupola removed, converted to passenger car, and renumbered #272 in 1967.  Parlor car from 1967 to 1988.  Received name Lake Nisutlin in 1967.  Wrecked at White Pass in July 2014.  Scrapped in 2016.
274 was purchased new.  Parlor car from 1967 to 1988.  Sold to Hamilton Mfg. Co. in 2011.  Resold to Georgetown Loop R.R. by 2014.
276 was purchased new.  Parlor car from 1967 to 1988.  Severely damaged at the Skagway Yard by a runaway work train on October 1, 2004.  Sold in 2005.  Resold to Edwards Railcar Co. in 2007.
278 was purchased new.  Parlor car from 1967 to 1988.  Severely damaged at the Skagway Yard by a runaway work train on October 1, 2004.  Sold in 2005.  Damage from accident repaired.  Resold to Georgetown Loop R.R., renumbered #228, and renamed Silver Queen in 2007.
280 was purchased new.  Parlor car from 1967 to 1988.

282 and 284 were purchased new.  Parlor cars from 1976 to 1988.  Severely damaged at the Skagway Yard by a runaway work train on October 1, 2004.  Damage from accident repaired.  Sold in 2005.  Resold to Georgetown Loop R.R. in 2007 (##282 and 284).  #282 renamed Clear Creek, and #284 renamed Argentine by G.L. R.R.
286 was purchased new.  Parlor car from 1976 to 1988.

288 was purchased new.  Parlor car from 1976 to 1988.  Severely damaged at the Skagway Yard by a runaway work train on October 1, 2004.  Sold in 2005.  Resold in 2007.
290 was originally a parlor car built up from one of Flatcars ##470-477.
  Converted to a coach in 2002.

378 was purchased new.  Wheelchair accessible, Hamilton Model ADA-12-15.

380 and 382 were purchased new.  Hamilton Model PASS-12-15.

384 was purchased new.  Wheelchair accessible, Hamilton Model ADA-14.
386 and 388 were purchased new.  Hamilton Model STD-26.

390 was purchased new.  Hamilton Model COMP-100.  (Weight is more likely without trucks.)

400 was purchased new.  Club car, Hamilton Model “Club.”  (Weight is more likely without trucks.)
402 was purchased new.  Club car, Hamilton Model “Club.”  (Weight is more likely without trucks.)
Four club cars expected in 2020.
Baggage Cars
X3 was originally Sumpter Valley Ry. Baggage Car #5, from American Car & Foundry Co. (St. Charles) Lot #8339.
  Purchased by the U.S. Army in 1943 (USA #932).  Turned over to the WP&YR in 1946 as #932.  Renumbered #X3 in 1947.  Served as a tool car under both Army and WP&YR.  Scrapped in 1971.

2nd 201 was destroyed in a runaway at Mile Post 2.5 on December 5, 1938.

For 1st 203, see note on Passenger Car #272.  As baggage car, had a cupola from 1925 to 1967.

1st 205 was originally Seattle & Walla Walla R.R. #2.  Transferred to Columbia & Puget Sound R.R. in 1880.
  Acquired from C&PS by the WP&YR in 1898 as 1st 201.  Renumbered 1st 205 in 1900 to clear the number for 2nd 201.  1st 205 had a cupola added in 1925.  Destroyed in a wreck at Mile Post 36 on September 30, 1943.

For 1st 207, see note on Passenger Car #270.  As baggage car, had a cupola from 1937 to 1967.

4.
DIAGRAMS OF PASSENGER CARS

a.
No. 2, motor car, Ford bus


b.
1st No. 200, business car


c.
1st No. 206, coach, formerly Columbia & Puget Sound R.R.

d.
1st No. 208, coach & No. 210, Billmeyer & Small coach, both formerly Columbia & Puget Sound R.R.

e.
No. 212, coach, formerly Columbia & Puget Sound R.R.


f.
Nos. 209 & 211, American Car & Foundry Co. combine, formerly Sumpter Valley Ry.


g.
Nos. 214 & 216, Brill coach, formerly Coeur d’Alene Ry. & Navigation Co.


h.
Nos. 218, 220, 222, & 224, Jackson & Sharp Co. parlor car, formerly Stony Clove & Catskill Mountain R.R.

i.
Nos. 226 & 238, coach


j.
Nos. 1st 230 & 232, open observation car


k.
No. 234, Reno Mill & Lumber parlor car, formerly Nevada-California-Oregon Ry.


l.
No. 236, Harlan & Hollingsworth parlor car, formerly Nevada-California-Oregon Ry.


m.
No. 240, St. Charles parlor car, formerly Coronado R.R.

n.
No. 242, St. Charles parlor car, formerly Coronado R.R.

o.
No. 244, Carter coach, formerly Northwestern Pacific R.R.

p.
No. 246, Carter coach, formerly Northwestern Pacific R.R.

q.
No. 248, Harlan & Hollingsworth parlor car, formerly Northwestern Pacific R.R.

r.
Nos. 252 & 254, Pullman coach, formerly Northwestern Pacific R.R.

s.
No. 256, Pacific Car & Foundry parlor car


t.
Nos. 258 & 260, J. Hammond parlor car, formerly Pacific Coast Ry.


u.
No. 262, J. Hammond coach, formerly Pacific Coast Ry.


v.
2nd No. 201 & 1st No. 203, baggage car


w.
1st No. 205, baggage car, formerly Columbia & Puget Sound R.R.


x.
1st No. 207, J. Hammond baggage car, formerly Pacific Coast Ry.
� Passim: White Pass and Yukon Route Comptroller’s Special Report, for years 1902-1949 (privately held); WP&YR Journal (unpublished, 1938-1947), WP&YR Company Records; Miscellaneous WP&YR Company Records (unpublished), Yukon Archives, Whitehorse, Yukon; Roberts, Earl W. and David P. Stremes (editors) (2008). Canadian Trackside Guide® 2008. Bytown Railway Society, at page 4-15; WP&YR Company Coach Roster (2008); Mulvihill, Carl E. (2000). White Pass & Yukon Route Handbook. R. Robb, Ltd. , at pp. 80-85.


� 1st 208's trucks remaining at Klondike City, Yukon read: “Billmeyer & Small Co., York, PA.”  Johnson, Eric L. (1997). The Bonanza Narrow Gauge Railway.  Rusty Spike Publishing. ISBN 0-9681976-0-4 , at pp. 48, 66, 150.  1st 204 and 1st 208 had the same architecture and both looked like Billmeyer & Small architecture.


� 1st 208's trucks remaining at Klondike City, Yukon read: “Billmeyer & Small Co., York, PA.”  Johnson (1997). Bonanza Narrow Gauge Railway , at pp. 48, 66, 150.


� The trucks on 1st 202 are marked “J. Hammond, 1887.”  Johnson (1997). Bonanza Narrow Gauge Railway , at page 150.  A photograph of 1st 202, showing the roof ends and peculiar clerestory vents, may be found in Trains, February 1963, at page 22.  A photograph of 1st 206 may be found at Prince, Bernadine L. (1964).  The Alaska Railroad.  Ken Wray's Print Shop , Vol. 1 (of 2), at page 401.  Note that the clerestory vents on 1st 202 and 1st 206 are constructed alike.  Also, the architectures of 1st 202 and 1st 206 are alike.  Thus, the appearances are that both 1st 202 and 1st 206 were built by Hammond in 1887. 


� April 24, 1890 letter from McNeill to Elijah Smith (OI Co. president) (The narrow gauge rolling stock, which we very much want at Seattle, consists of … passenger coaches, etc.).  Oregon Improvement Co. Records, Accession #0249-001, Special Collections, U. of Washington Libraries, Seattle, Washington. 


� Johnson (1997). Bonanza Narrow Gauge Railway, at page 150.


� 67 Steuben Farmers’ Advocate (Bath, N.Y.), No. 48 (November 29, 1882), at page 3, Col. 4, at, � HYPERLINK "http://fultonhistory.com/highlighter/viewer/?file=http%3A%2F%2Ffultonhistory.com%2FNewspapers%252023%2FBath%2520NY%2520Stuben%2520Advocate%2FBath%2520NY%2520Stubin%2520Advocate%25201882-1885%2FBath%2520NY%2520Stubin%2520Advocate%25201882-1885%2520-%25200020.pdf" �http://fultonhistory.com/highlighter/viewer/?file=http%3A%2F%2Ffultonhistory.com%2FNewspapers%252023%2FBath%2520NY%2520Stuben%2520Advocate%2FBath%2520NY%2520Stubin%2520Advocate%25201882-1885%2FBath%2520NY%2520Stubin%2520Advocate%25201882-1885%2520-%25200020.pdf� (Sept. 10, 2016) (A.&N.P. Railway – “Up to this time there have been received two freight engines, box and flat cars, mail and baggage cars, two passenger coaches and two combination coaches.  Two passenger engines are expected in about two weeks, and other passenger coaches will soon be here.”).


� Car known to have been owned by Barrows & Co. (dealer) and located on the Billmeyer & Small Co. property at York, Pennsylvania in 1887.  November 15, 1887 letter from Elijah Smith (OI Co. president) to Barrows & Co. (We have agreed to buy from you two narrow gauge coaches at York, Pennsylvania). Oregon Improvement Co. Records, U. of Washington Libraries.  The managing owner of Barrows & Co. was Eugene G. Barrows (1828-1888).  New York City Directory (1887). Trow’s Printing Co., at page 97, at, � HYPERLINK "https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015050646457;view=1up;seq=109" �https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015050646457;view=1up;seq=109� (Sept. 13, 2016) (“Barrows, Eugene G., supplies, 66 B’way … Barrows & Co., supplies, 64 B’way”).  In 1887, Mr. Barrows was also a director of the newly formed Addison & Pennsylvania Ry., which purchased the assets of the Addison & Northern Pennsylvania Ry., under foreclosure, in the same year.  15 Annual Report of the Secretary of Internal Affairs, Part 4: Railroad, Canal, Navigation, Telephone, and Telegraph Companies (Pennsylvania 1888), at pp. 5-6, at, � HYPERLINK "https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=uc1.b2896981;view=1up;seq=13" �https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=uc1.b2896981;view=1up;seq=13� (Sept. 9, 2016).  Coincidentally, two A&NP passenger cars were sold in 1887.  4 Annual Report of the Board of Railroad Commissioners of the State of New York (1887), at page 73, at, � HYPERLINK "https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=coo.31924093028672;view=1up;seq=97" �https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=coo.31924093028672;view=1up;seq=97� (Sept. 16, 2016) (A&NP had 4 second class passenger cars on Sept. 30, 1886); 5 Annual Report of the Board of Railroad Commissioners of the State of New York (1888), at page 86, at, � HYPERLINK "https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=uc1.b3008443;view=1up;seq=92" �https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=uc1.b3008443;view=1up;seq=92� (Sept. 16, 2016) (A&P had only 2 second class passenger cars on September 30, 1887 – 2 less than the A&NP had one year before).  At least, the architecture of the roofs and roof ends of the full-length A&NP passenger cars match the roofs and roof ends of the cars which Mr. Barrows purchased, and which later became WP&YR ##204 and 208.  Hilton, George W. (1990). American Narrow Gauge Railroads. Stanford Univ. Press. ISBN 0-8047-1731-1, at page 254 (cars behind locomotive cab).  (The car at the right end of the A&NP train is a combine.)  Mr. Barrows almost certainly was the purchaser of the two A&NP cars that were sold, in view of: (a) his primary business interest in purchasing and selling used railroad cars, (b) his influence as a director of the A&P, (c) his coincidentally obtaining two used narrow-gauge passenger cars at the same time the two A&NP narrow-gauge passenger cars were sold, and (d) the visual similarity between the cars he purchased and the visible portion of the cars in the cited photograph.


� November 15, 1887 letter from Elijah Smith to Barrows & Co.  February 8, 1888 letter from William H. Odenatt to Elijah Smith.  February 23, 1888 letter from Elijah Smith to Billmeyer & Small Co.  Oregon Improvement Co. Records, U. of Washington Libraries.


� Deely, Nicholas (1996). Tanana Valley Railroad: the Gold Dust Line. Denali Designs , at pp. 147-48.


� See, footnote for 1st 202, above. 


� April 24, 1890 letter from H. W. McNeill (C&PS resident manager) to Elijah Smith (OI Co. president) (The narrow gauge rolling stock, which we very much want at Seattle, consists of … passenger coaches, etc.).  Oregon Improvement Co. Records, U. of Washington Libraries. 


� 67 Steuben Farmers’ Advocate (Bath, N.Y.), No. 48 (November 29, 1882), at page 3, Col. 4.


� Car known to have been owned by Barrows & Co. (dealer) and located on the Billmeyer & Small Co. property at York, Pennsylvania in 1887.  November 15, 1887 letter from Elijah Smith (OI Co. president) to Barrows & Co.  The managing owner of Barrows & Co. was Eugene G. Barrows (1828-1888).  New York City Directory (1887). Trow’s Printing Co., at page 97.  In 1887, Mr. Barrows was also a director of the newly formed Addison & Pennsylvania Ry., which purchased the assets of the Addison & Northern Pennsylvania Ry., under foreclosure, in the same year.  15 Annual Report of the Secretary of Internal Affairs, Part 4: Railroad, Canal, Navigation, Telephone, and Telegraph Companies (Pennsylvania 1888), at pp. 5-6.  Coincidentally, two A&NP passenger cars were sold in 1887.  4 Annual Report of the Board of Railroad Commissioners of the State of New York (1887), at page 73; 5 Annual Report of the Board of Railroad Commissioners of the State of New York (1888), at page 86.    At least, the architecture of the roofs and roof ends of the full-length A&NP passenger cars match the roofs and roof ends of the cars which Mr. Barrows purchased, and which later became WP&YR ##204 and 208.  Hilton (1990). American Narrow Gauge Railroads, at page 254 (cars behind locomotive cab).  (The car at the right end of the A&NP train is a combine.)  Mr. Barrows almost certainly was the purchaser of the two A&NP cars that were sold, in view of: (a) his primary business interest in purchasing and selling used railroad cars, (b) his influence as a director of the A&P, (c) his coincidentally obtaining two used narrow-gauge passenger cars at the same time the two A&NP narrow-gauge passenger cars were sold, and (d) the visual similarity between the cars he purchased and the visible portion of the cars in the cited photograph.


� November 15, 1887 letter from Elijah Smith to Barrows & Co.  February 23, 1888 letter from Elijah Smith to Billmeyer & Small Co.  Oregon Improvement Co. Records, U. of Washington Libraries.


� Johnson (1997). Bonanza Narrow Gauge Railway, at page 150.


� Armbruster, Kurt E. (1999).  Orphan Road.  Washington State Univ. Press, 1999.  ISBN 0-87422-185-4, at page 56; Records Pertaining to the Seattle and Walla Walla Railroad, at pp. 4 (1879 rolling stock), 12 (1880 rolling stock), Burlington Northern, Inc. Company Records, Accession #1972.5375, Box 1, Seattle Museum of History and Industry Library, Seattle, Washington.  The architecture of this car looks strikingly like an 1876-era Billmeyer & Small Co. passenger car.  Billmeyer reputedly sold plans for cars, as well as parts to be used with such plans.  See, Hilton (1990). American Narrow Gauge Railroads, at page 176, 2nd to last ¶ (“In addition … – the Company are prepared at short notice to supply Iron Castings, Wrought Iron Work, Brasses, Wheels and Axles; also, Passenger Car material of every kind for Repair and New Work … ”).  Because of significant shipping costs from Pennsylvania to Washington State for an entire car, such Billmeyer plans and parts may have been used to make this car.


� July 24, 1884 letter from John L. Howard (OI Co. manager) to Elijah Smith (OI Co. president) (1 passenger coach, just overhauled).  Oregon Improvement Co. Records, U. of Washington Libraries.


� Deely (1996). Tanana Valley Railroad , at pp. 147-48.


� The C&PS owned 1 coach as of July 24, 1884 and October 30, 1884.  Letters from John L. Howard to Elijah Smith.  Carter “offered to build a first-class plain substantial car.”  Letter of November 18, 1884 from John L. Howard to Elijah Smith, Oregon Improvement Co. Records, U. of Washington Libraries.  The C&PS owned 2 coaches as of November 30, 1884.  Oregon Improvement Company Report to Stockholders for 1885 at page 11, � HYPERLINK "http://books.google.com/books?id=nxooAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA11#v=onepage&q=&f=false" �http://books.google.com/books?id=nxooAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA11#v=onepage&q=&f=false� (Jan. 8, 2010), and Oregon Improvement Company Report to Stockholders for 1886 at page 8, � HYPERLINK "http://books.google.com/books?id=nxooAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA18-IA8#v=onepage&q=&f=false" �http://books.google.com/books?id=nxooAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA18-IA8#v=onepage&q=&f=false� (Jan. 8, 2010).  These appear to have been C&PS ##1 and 2, later WP&YR ##210 and 212. 


� Container flat cars built by National Steel Car Corp. for the WP&YR in 1969.  N.S.C. Corp. built 200 such cars for the WP&YR, ##300-499, all in 1969.  Combes, C. L. (editor) (1970). 1970 Car and Locomotive Cyclopedia of American Practice. Simmons-Boardman Publishing Corp. , § 3: Freight Train Cars, at page 103.


� Container flat cars built by National Steel Car Corp. for the WP&YR in 1969.  N.S.C. Corp. built 200 such cars for the WP&YR, ##300-499, all in 1969.  Combes (1970). 1970 Car and Locomotive Cyclopedia of American Practice , § 3: Freight Train Cars, at page 103.


� Mullet, Alfred, and Leonard Merritt (2009).  Sumpter Valley Railway. Arcadia Publishing.  ISBN 978-0-7385-7125-6, at pp. 80-83.


� Transfer from T&StL to Cd'AR&N based on combination of: (a) common manufacturer, (b) similarity of appearance, (c) coincidental disappearance/appearance, and (d) two ex-T&St.L locomotives were sold to the Cd'AR&N at that time. Official Railway Equipment Guide/Register, various dates: St. Louis, Arkansas & Texas Ry. - Passenger Equipment; Northern Pacific Railroad - Coeur d’Alene Ry. & Nav. Line; Strapac, Joseph A. (1977). Cotton Belt Locomotives. Shade Tree Books,  at page 275; Cd'AR&N Roster as of 12/31/1886, Robertson, Donald B. (1991). 2 Encyclopedia of Western Railroad History: The Mountain States. Taylor Publishng Co. , at page 206; Wood, John V. (1983). Railroads Through the Coeur d’Alenes. Caxton Printers, Ltd. , at page 73; for a view of #214 before being rebuilt by the WP&YR, see, Johnson, Eric L. (1988). Sea to Sky Gold Rush Route. Rusty Spike Publishing , at page 74.  (Brill narrow-gauge coaches had a distinctive appearance. See, Poor’s Manual of Railroads, No. 15 (1882), advertising section at page 116; also in advertising section of years close to 1882.); 1881 build date: 13 Railroad Gazette 727 (December 23, 1881), at � HYPERLINK "http://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015013053643;view=1up;seq=751" �http://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015013053643;view=1up;seq=751� (April 23, 2015) (“J. G. Brill & Co. … recently delivered several narrow-gauge passenger cars to the Texas & St. Louis road.”).


� Same references as for #214.


� SC&CM Miscellaneous Companies & Persons Sub-ledger (Volume 208, unpublished), at page 150; SC&CM Construction & Equipment Sub-ledger (Volume 209, unpublished), at page 122; Penn Central Transportation Co. Records, Manuscripts and Archives Division, New York Public Library, Manhattan, New York. (Note: the NYPL erroneously lists the SC&CM sub-ledgers as “Boxes” 208 and 209; they should be listed as “Volumes” 208 and 209.); WP&YR Record of Vouchers (unpublished, 1900–1901), at page 4 (“New Coaches”; “Trans chgs on Coaches Chicago to Seattle”), WP&YR Company Records, Yukon Archives; Special Report: White Pass & Yukon Route 1901 (unpublished), at page 123 (“four [4] second-hand coaches bought in Chicago”), WP&YR Company Records, Yukon Archives.  Photos of SC&CM coaches disclose one of its three coaches not to be like the four coaches sold to WP&YR in 1901.  Note: the way to differentiate between the ex-SC&CM (1881) coaches and the ex-Kaaterskill R.R. (1883) coaches is that the SC&CM coaches always had stoves, but the Kaaterskill R.R. coaches had no stoves while on the Kaaterskill R.R.  17th Annual Report of the Board of Railroad Commissioners of New York, for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 1899, at pp. 277 and 546.  The cars arrived in Skagway in May 1901.  WP&YR General Office Journal (unpublished, Jan. 1901 to July 1902), WP&YR Company Records, Yukon Archives.  ##218 and 220 were put into operation with stoves in June 1901, but ##222 and 224 were put into operation with stoves over a month later.  WP&YR Letter dated July 31, 1901, COR 868, f. 5/539, WP&YR Company Records, Yukon Archives.  The apparent reason for the delay for ##222 and 224 is that they needed to have the stoves installed.


� “Widening of the [Los Angeles & Redondo Ry.] tracks was completed Oct. 1, 1902 at which time all 3 ft. gauge equipment was sold.”  Best, Gerald M. (1958). Early Steam Suburban Railroads In Los Angeles., at page 23, Bulletin No. 99, Railway and Locomotive Historical Society (Oct. 1955).  “Electric cars [were expected to] make their initial trip over the Redondo railroad on Thanksgiving day [November 1902]. … The old steam railroad [had been] practically rebuilt …”  27 Press and Horticulturist (Riverside, California), No. 82 (Oct. 10, 1902), at page 7, Col. 3 (Southern California News), at, � HYPERLINK "https://news.google.com/newspapers?nid=2468&dat=19020930&id=UCozAAAAIBAJ&sjid=3QAGAAAAIBAJ&pg=865,6608574&hl=en" �https://news.google.com/newspapers?nid=2468&dat=19020930&id=UCozAAAAIBAJ&sjid=3QAGAAAAIBAJ&pg=865,6608574&hl=en� (July 6, 2016).  “Los Angeles & Redondo Railway … Date standardized: … 1902”  Robertson, Donald B. (1998). 4 Encyclopedia of Western Railroad History: California. Caxton Printers, Ltd. ISBN 0-87004-385-4 , at page 139, at, � HYPERLINK "https://books.google.com/books?id=-aWhRfr3rdkC&pg=PA139#v=onepage&q&f=false" �https://books.google.com/books?id=-aWhRfr3rdkC&pg=PA139#v=onepage&q&f=false� (July 5, 2016).  Accordingly, from June 30, 1900 until at least August 1, 1902, the LA&R retained all 22 of its 3 ft. gauge passenger service cars.  Report of the Board of Railroad Commissioners of the State of California for the Year Ending December 31, 1900, at page 226 (June 30, 1900 total=22), at, � HYPERLINK "https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=uc1.b000308804;view=1up;seq=232" �https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=uc1.b000308804;view=1up;seq=232� (July 7, 2016); Poor’s Manual of Railroads, No. 35 (1902), at page 618 (Aug. 1, 1902 total=22), at, � HYPERLINK "https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015039352201;view=1up;seq=857" �https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015039352201;view=1up;seq=857� (July 7, 2016).  But, it is undisputed that the WP&YR obtained Cars ##218, 220, 222, and 224 in May 1901 in Chicago, 17 months prior to October 1902 and a long distance from Los Angeles.  WP&YR Record of Vouchers (1900-1901), at page 4; Special Report: White Pass & Yukon Route 1901, at page 123.  Furthermore, during 1885 to 1890, inclusive, Jackson & Sharp Co. sold no cars to the Redondo Ry. (the LA&R’s 1889-1896 predecessor), or to the Rosecrans R.R. or to the San Gabriel Valley Rapid-Transit Ry. (regional prior owners of 3 ft. gauge cars).  Jackson & Sharp Co. Engineering Record Book for 1885-1890, Smithsonian Institution, National Museum of American History, Archives Center, Collection NMAH.AC.0156 (J.&S. Car Co. Records).  More particularly, all of the passenger cars ordered by or delivered to the Redondo Ry. in 1889 were built by the Laclede Car Mfg. Co.  21 Railroad Gazette 533 (Aug. 9, 1889), Col. 3, at, � HYPERLINK "https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015013053718;view=1up;seq=559" �https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015013053718;view=1up;seq=559� (July 9, 2016).  All of the SGV R-T cars were built by Carter Bros.  27 Los Angeles Herald, No. 138 (August 21, 1887), at page 8, Col. 1 (News Notes), at, � HYPERLINK "https://cdnc.ucr.edu/cgi-bin/cdnc?a=d&d=LAH18870821.2.38" �https://cdnc.ucr.edu/cgi-bin/cdnc?a=d&d=LAH18870821.2.38� (Feb. 25, 2018).  Finally, there is no record which supports the report that Cars ##218, 220, 222, and 224 came from the LA&R.  This unsubstantiated report first materialized after 1983, after the history of these cars had been reported as “unknown,” in Clifford, Howard (1983). Doing the White Pass: The Story of the White Pass & Yukon Route and the Klondike Gold Rush. Sourdough Enterprises. ISBN 0-911803-04-1, at pp. 79-80.
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2 - 


